How Michigan Schools Spent Their Extra Pandemic Funds

CASSIDY SYFTESTAD KLUTTS





The Mackinac Center for Public Policy is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to improving the quality of life for all Michigan residents by promoting sound solutions to state and local policy questions. The Mackinac Center assists policymakers, scholars, businesspeople, the media and the public by providing objective analysis of Michigan issues. The goal of all Center reports, commentaries and educational programs is to equip Michigan residents and other decision makers to better evaluate policy options. The Mackinac Center for Public Policy is broadening the debate on issues that have for many years been dominated by the belief that government intervention should be the standard solution. Center publications and programs, in contrast, offer an integrated and comprehensive approach that considers:

- **All Institutions.** The Center examines the important role of voluntary associations, communities, businesses and families, as well as government.
- All People. Mackinac Center research recognizes the diversity of Michigan residents and treats them as individuals with unique backgrounds, circumstances and goals.
- All Disciplines. Center research incorporates the best understanding of economics, science, law, psychology, history and morality, moving beyond mechanical cost-benefit analysis.

All Times. Center research evaluates long-term consequences, not simply short-term impact.

Committed to its independence, the Mackinac Center for Public Policy neither seeks nor accepts any government funding. The Center enjoys the support of foundations, individuals and businesses that share a concern for Michigan's future and recognize the important role of sound ideas. The Center is a nonprofit, tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. For more information on programs and publications of the Mackinac Center for Public Policy, please contact:

Mackinac Center for Public Policy 140 West Main Street P.O. Box 568 Midland, Michigan 48640 989-631-0900 Fax: 989-631-0964 Mackinac.org mcpp@mackinac.org

The Mackinac Center for Public Policy Covid Cash: How Michigan Schools Spent Their Extra Pandemic Funds

By Cassidy Syftestad Klutts

©2023 by the Mackinac Center for Public Policy Midland, Michigan



Guarantee of Quality Scholarship

The Mackinac Center for Public Policy is committed to delivering the highest quality and most reliable research on Michigan issues. The Center guarantees that all original factual data are true and correct and that information attributed to other sources is accurately represented.

The Center encourages rigorous critique of its research. If the accuracy of any material fact or reference to an independent source is questioned and brought to the Center's attention with supporting evidence, the Center will respond in writing. If an error exists, it will be noted in a correction that will accompany all subsequent distribution of the publication. This constitutes the complete and final remedy under this guarantee.

Contents

Introduction	1
Existing reports of school Covid funds	2
Overall education spending	
Itemized Covid relief spending	4
Covid spending by school type	8
Conclusion	9
Appendix A: List of school Covid grants	11
Appendix B: Total school spending by category and year	12
Appendix C: Public school staffing, 2018-2022	13
Endnotes	14

Introduction

Between March 2020 and March 2021, the federal government distributed an unprecedented amount of money to American public schools to address the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic. About \$6 billion was distributed in three waves to the state of Michigan alone. These funds came with great discretion on how they could be spent, and schools had wide latitude in how to document their spending.¹

The financial support started when Congress passed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act in March 2020. The aim was to provide schools "with emergency relief funds to address the impact that COVID-19 has had, and continues to have," according to the U.S. Department of Education.² Michigan schools received more than \$700 million through this funding. In December 2020, Congress passed a second wave of relief, called the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act. Public schools received nearly \$1.5 billion more. The third and final financial support package, called the American Rescue Plan Act, passed in March 2021. It topped them all, handing Michigan schools \$3.7 billion in extra funding.³

The U.S. Department of Education said this funding was aimed at helping districts "reopen schools safely, maximize in-person instructional time, and address the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on students, educators, and families."⁴ Allowable uses range from addressing students' social, emotional and academic needs to dealing with health and safety concerns. More specific examples include "improving ventilation and implementing illness prevention strategies" and "preventing teacher layoffs; providing accelerated learning opportunities; implementing rigorous curricula; funding additional counselors, school nurses, and school psychologists; increasing the number of full-service community schools."⁵ For the third and largest installment of ESSER, school districts were directed to allocate at least 20% of funds to address learning loss through evidence-based interventions such as summer programs, extended school days, or after-school programs. The remaining 80% was to be allocated at the district's discretion subject to the allowable uses established by previous relief grants.⁶

This report uses data provided by districts to the state government to analyze how public schools in Michigan have reported spending their Covid relief funds. This financial information covers the three school years that ended in 2020, 2021 and 2022. The analysis finds that school districts reported spending about \$2.5 billion of their \$6 billion in Covid aid through the 2021-22 school year. The data generally show that districts allocated this extra revenue similarly to the way they typically spend resources — with about half devoted to employee compensation, a third for purchased services and supplies and the rest on capital costs and a variety of relatively minor expenses.

Existing reports of school Covid funds

All Michigan school districts receiving Covid relief money are required to submit a spending plan to the Michigan Department of Education and publish it online. Each plan must explain how the funds support Covid prevention strategies, overcome the impacts of lost instructional time and address the needs of all students. Districts may respond in narrative form, meaning they do not necessarily need to provide an itemized or detailed account of how they plan to use these funds.⁷

With these rather weak reporting requirements, there is wide variation in detail among district Covid relief spending plans. For example, some school districts provide quite a few details, like those in Detroit and Dearborn. These districts published their Covid relief expenditures by fiscal year and category.^{*} Detroit's seven delineated categories include bringing students back to school, maximizing safe learning, meeting the needs of students and employees, upgrading schools and facilities management. Similarly, the Grand Rapids and Kalamazoo public school districts identify Covid relief spending by both category and grant source.⁸ Across those districts that share their spending plans, we see a wide variety of uses ranging from hiring a full-time nurse to overhauling HVAC systems.

Unfortunately, these districts serve as the exception and not the rule. A considerable number of school districts report only the bare minimum required by MDE.⁹ These narrative responses — published by the department in a 1,000-page document — answer only four brief questions and make determining how these districts plan to spend their Covid funds difficult.¹⁰

Considering that billions of dollars are at stake and given the varying levels of transparency, it's no wonder that concerned Michigan residents want to follow this money trail. News headlines report several types of queries that concerned citizens and stakeholders have made. Additional facts were requested regarding ways that the \$6 billion could be spent, how schools ought to spend the money and how the funds have already been spent.

Bridge Michigan, for example, interviewed several school leaders from five Michigan communities about how their federal funds are being spent. Answers include using funds for summer school programs, electrostatic disinfection machines, purchasing technology for classrooms and for teacher training, tutoring, supporting students' social and emotional development, textbooks, student transportation, and counselors.¹¹

^{*} Dearborn makes available spreadsheets that show how the district spent each of the Covid-related federal grants it received. These are available here: https://dearbornschools.org/budgettransparency. Detroit posted detailed plans for how it was to spend its relief funds, see: https://perma.cc/G8MW-ANA9.

Overall, news outlets have highlighted the many ways Covid relief funds could be used in support of beleaguered students, schools and families. Some reports are hopeful, some are speculative, and many are highly informative.^{*}

Further complicating matters, an article by Education Next highlights the fact that numerous school districts developed their spending plans before they understood the severity and nature of learning losses sustained during school closures. Districts may alter their spending plans and are allowed to conduct ex post facto revisions of their spending plans. This would allow districts that formerly prioritized things like facilities, labor costs or third-party services to combat learning losses instead. Authors Katherine Silberstein and Marguerite Roza aptly stated: "What facilities investments aren't doing, however, is resolving gaps in learning which are at the heart of what most see as the purpose of relief funds."¹² The bottom line is that it is difficult to tell the extent to which schools are using the billions of dollars in Covid relief to buttress their infrastructure and operational status quo versus providing additional and targeted services to struggling students.

Direct inquiries of districts on this question have not yielded much helpful information. Investigators from The Center Square issued public record requests to school districts across the state. Reporter Scott McClallen confirmed that only 25% of school districts responded to his requests.¹³ Ideally, all districts would publish the amount of Covid relief expended to date, detail how the money was spent and outline intended uses for remaining funds.

After years of conjecture about how districts are spending their unprecedented relief money, enough information has accumulated to get at this question. Michigan's Center for Educational Performance and Information has released three years' worth of state and district-level expenditure data. Spending is categorized by fund, function and source, allowing us to pull back the veil and move beyond narratives and testimonials from school officials. These data allow us to determine how much money has been spent and more precisely understand where it is going.

Overall education spending

From 2020 to 2022, Michigan public schools spent \$86 billion in total, including their Covid relief funds. Graphic 1 shows that, from year to year, school districts spent the most money on employee salaries, benefits and "other expenditures," which includes "dues and fees, interest on debt, claims and judgements, miscellaneous, and "other financing and debt." Employee compensation — including salaries and benefits — consumed half of all spending.

The main catalyst for increased statewide spending — despite a 4.3% enrollment decline since the 2018-19 school year — was the enormous amount of federal Covid aid doled out over this

^{*} For examples, see: Jennifer Chambers, "Michigan's plan for federal COVID relief funds for schools approved" (The Detroit News, Oct. 8, 2021), https://perma.cc/25LQ-CLEM; Lily Altavena, "Some Michigan schools try to steer COVID cash to athletics, security cameras" (Bridge Michigan, April 11, 2022), https://perma.cc/UYA7-A2TN; Koby Levin, "How COVID-19 cash could help Michigan schools tackle a mental health crisis" (Detroit Free Press, March 14, 2022), https://perma.cc/N92Q-7E62; Koby Levin and Ethan Bakuli, "Federal COVID relief aid to schools will dry up soon. Are districts ready?" (Chalkbeat Detroit, Feb. 17, 2023), https://perma.cc/K5BL-YFRW.

period.¹⁴ Of the \$86 billion spent by Michigan public schools, \$2.58 billion came from revenue related to pandemic relief.



Graphic 1: Total public school spending, 2019-2022

Source: wincingan Center for Educational Performance and information. Note: This graph excludes expenditures for repairs and maintenance, rentals, internal use, taxes, and discounts on food service, which range from \$2.8 million to \$1 billion across all three years. See Appendix B for the corresponding table.

The graphic also shows an increase in spending over these three years. Michigan schools spent progressively more money in every category except on "other expenditures." Between 2019-20 and 2021-22, spending increased overall by 11%, or \$2.99 billion. While employee salaries and benefits, at \$1.35 billion, represent the largest dollar value increase, spending on compensation increased by 9%, slightly less than the overall average.

Spending in other categories grew faster, such as capital outlay and supplies, which grew by 37% and 34%, respectively. Over these three school years, purchased services and repairs and maintenance expenditures also increased more than employee compensation, jumping up by about 16% in each category. This broad view suggests that Michigan schools, on average, used their Covid relief funds to hire more employees, increase compensation, purchase more supplies and services from third parties, and make building improvements.

Itemized Covid relief spending

Never have Michigan public schools received such large sums of money in such a short amount of time as they did through federal Covid relief funds. Not only that, but school officials also have broad discretion on how to spend these additional resources. The main requirement is that the money be allocated in a certain amount of time — although it's not clear what penalty would be enforced for districts that do not spend this money by a certain date.

Most school districts are challenged with spending a lot of money fast. The expenditure data from Michigan's Center for Educational Performance and Information allow for a closer look at how

schools have used this money so far. Table 1 shows the statewide totals of how school districts reported spending their Covid relief funds from the last three school years: 2019-20, 2020-21 and 2021-22. This funding came from 19 Covid-related grants, which are listed in Appendix A.

Altogether, school districts spent \$2.58 billion of their Covid funds across these three school years. This constitutes about half of the total Covid aid granted to Michigan school districts. Districts have until September 2024 to spend the remaining funds.

It should be noted that funds were not distributed equally across school districts. Those serving a greater number of students from low-income households received significantly more dollars per pupil. Urban school districts received more money per pupil, in general, than districts located in suburban communities or small towns. Some districts, such as Flint, Detroit and Pontiac, received tens of thousands of dollars extra per student. Other districts, such as East Grand Rapids, DeWitt and Brighton, received just hundreds of dollars per student in Covid relief.¹⁵

Category 2019-		2020-21	2021-22	3-year sum	%
Salary	\$17,429,530	\$246,112,657	\$530,943,540	\$794,485,727	31%
Purchased services	services \$7,535,114 \$146,666,544		\$369,868,758	\$524,070,415	20%
Benefits	\$8,524,510	\$124,704,289	\$290,520,744	\$423,749,543	16%
Supplies	\$6,756,034	\$232,882,464	\$173,020,540	\$412,659,038	16%
Capital outlay	\$1,932,982	\$91,377,514	\$119,574,969	\$212,885,465	8%
Copyright fees/software licenses/agreements	\$0	\$31,038,310	\$39,585,265	\$70,623,575	3%
Transfers	\$23,257	\$14,296,408	\$32,855,467	\$47,175,132	2%
Repairs/maintenance	\$253,176	\$12,959,488	\$27,596,445	\$40,809,110	2%
Rentals	\$17,664	\$6,327,248	\$4,847,186	\$11,192,098	<1%
Textbooks	\$0	\$3,955,490	\$14,920,782	\$18,876,272	1%
Food	\$0	\$88,436	\$109,661	\$198,097	<1%
Software maintenance agreements	\$0		\$4,414,850	\$9,495,722	<1%
Indirect cost recovery	ndirect cost recovery \$0		\$10,142,115	\$12,549,771	<1%
Internal use only \$267,131		\$0	\$0	\$267,131	<1%
Other	ther \$34,388		\$2,293,621	\$5,394,558	<1%
Debt service Long term only	\$0	\$0	\$144,279	\$144,279	<1%
Total expenditures	\$42,773,786	\$920,963,926	\$1,620,838,221	\$2,584,575,933	100%

Graphic 2: Total Covid spending by all public schools by category and year

Source: Michigan Center for Educational Performance and Information.

About half of all education spending from 2020 to 2022 covered employee salaries and benefits. That is a well-documented, long-term trend in school finance: districts typically devote about half or more of their budgets to employee compensation. It is, however, interesting that almost the same percentage of Covid relief was spent on compensating employees. Across all three years, employee salaries and benefits made up 47%, or \$1.2 billion, of total pandemic relief expenditures.

One plausible reason schools might spend such a large amount of pandemic relief on employee compensation is to hire new employees to address learning losses. State data show, however, that staffing levels did not increase significantly over this period. This suggests that schools used their Covid relief funds to boost the pay of existing employees rather than hire more of them.

State data show staffing trends for the number of full-time equivalent employees.¹⁶ Between fall 2019 and fall 2022, overall staffing levels at schools increased by 5,800, or 3%. Most of that increase happened between 2021 and 2022, with districts adding nearly 5,000 employees in just one year. Even if each new employee hired by school districts cost an average of \$100,000, that would amount to less than half of the Covid relief funds districts spent. A rough estimate then would be that districts have spent at least a quarter of all Covid relief so far on boosting the pay of existing employees.

Looking at the staffing changes by job category reveals that, in the years since Covid broke out, most growth occurred in the number of instructional coordinators, district-level administrators and administrative staff. Districts hired the equivalent of 666 new full-time instructional coordinators between 2019 and 2022, a more than 50% increase. They hired 1,198 more district administrators and administrative staff over the same period, an increase of 30%. On average, districts hired at least one new coordinator and two new district-level administrative employees.^{*}

The number of teachers remained somewhat level, with an increase of 1% for all general education, special education and career and technical education teachers. That represents about 990 teachers. Interestingly, schools hired large numbers of career and technical teachers since 2019. Although the total number is small, with only 2,000 employed in 2022, staffing levels for career and technical teaching personnel have increased by 22% in three years and made up a third of the increase in teacher hirings over the period.

Overall, staffing levels did not increase drastically enough to suggest that the \$1.2 billion of Covid aid slated for compensation was primarily devoted to mitigating learning losses incurred by prolonged school closures. With the additional \$1.2 billion, Michigan school districts could have hired roughly 16,300 more full time-employees.[†] Although a portion of the funds may have been used to hire new employees, these findings support the idea that school districts mostly used Covid relief funds to pad existing employees' compensation levels.

^{*} Despite this increase in hiring district-level administrators, the total number of administrative employees at school districts decreased slightly from fall 2019 to fall 2022. Including school-level administrators and support staff and school and district directors in the tally finds the total number of administrators fell by 179, a 0.7% decrease. The most significant decrease was in school-level administrators, whose numbers fell by 1,771, or 27%.

⁺ This calculation is based on the average cost per employee which is determined by dividing the total amount districts spent on employee compensation by the number of full-time school employees districts employed during the 2018-19 school year.

Graphic 3 shows the spending allocation of Covid relief funds for school years ending in 2020, 2021 and 2022. There are 15 different categories in which districts can report spending. More than 90% of all pandemic relief spending fell into just four of those categories: employee compensation, purchased services, supplies and capital expenses. As mentioned, the portion devoted to compensation was similar to the share allocated by districts in the year before Covid. But a much larger proportion of pandemic relief was spent on supplies (11% greater share) and purchased services (8% greater share) relative to 2018-19 allocations. In other words, school districts spent a greater proportion of Covid aid on purchased services and supplies than was spent in years prior to the pandemic. The increased spending on supplies and purchased services could represent efforts by districts to address learning loss and mitigate the effects of school closures, but it is difficult to determine more than this based on this data.



Graphic 3: Total Covid spending by all public schools in category percentages, 2019-2022

Source: Michigan Center for Educational Performance and Information.

The increase in purchased services is particularly stark. This spending is when school districts contract with third-party vendors to provide services, such as pupil transportation, food service, building maintenance, administrative and personnel services and more. Twenty percent of Covid aid funded purchased services, which is nearly double the portion school districts normally spend on purchased services (11%). This trend suggests that school districts relied on third-party vendors to meet acute needs during the pandemic.

Similarly, districts spent three times the portion they normally spend on supplies. They devoted 16% of Covid relief to supplies, whereas they typically spend just 5% of their funds for this purpose. Supplies can include educational media, energy costs, hardware and tools, periodicals, testing materials and transportation supplies.

Schools spent the most on supplies in the second year of their Covid relief. In 2020-21, districts devoted 25% of all Covid relief to supplies, or \$230 million. Of this, 60% was categorized as miscellaneous and 36% as teaching and testing materials.

A more granular analysis shows that, during that school year, 61% of pandemic funding for miscellaneous supplies was spent on "operating buildings services," which includes heating, lighting, and air systems; repairing facilities and equipment; building leases; property and liability insurance; and janitorial and ground maintenance costs. About 10% covered "non instructional technology," such as supporting networks, maintaining information systems, processing data, supervising technology personnel and hardware. This spending may reflect schools' attempt to improve their facilities and technology in order to operate virtual learning courses and flexible scheduling for in-person classes.

Covid spending by school type

According to the Michigan Association of Public School Academies, 295 charter schools serve more than 10% of Michigan's students.¹⁷ Given the differences between district- and charter-run schools in facilities and governance, among other things, we conduct an expenditure analysis by school type to identify if these sectors allocated their Covid relief differently. Since there were systematic differences in how these different types of schools reported their Covid relief spending, this analysis provides a clearer picture of how both sectors — conventional school districts and charter schools — allocated their respective resources.

Compared to conventional school districts, charter schools reported using a larger portion of their Covid relief on purchased services and supplies. For the three school years starting in 2019, 2020 and 2021, charter districts spent 69% on purchased services and 16% on supplies. Only 4% went to labor costs.

Many of these differences can be explained by the way charter schools operate. Instead of hiring their own staff, most charter schools pay a management company to handle their staffing needs. The related expenses, including employee compensation, get categorized as a purchased service. This is a limitation of the spending data that makes it difficult to tell if charters allocated their resources differently than school districts.

Isolating data for conventional districts shows that they spent a slightly larger share on labor costs than the overall data suggest. Over the three years analyzed, districts spent 52% of their pandemic relief on labor. They spent the same portion as charters on supplies — 16%. This analysis also shows that districts spent only 15% on purchased services, which is more than they typically spend, but not as much of an increase as the aggregated data suggest.

It is possible to dig deeper into the data to see how charter schools categorized their purchased service spending of Covid relief. We compared the way charter schools allocate regular funds and Covid aid within the purchased services category during the 2021-22 school year. Specifically, we

analyze how funds are apportioned within the purchased services subcategory, called professional technical services. This covers 95% of spending by charter schools on purchased services.

Charter schools reported allocating 49% of their regular education funds on instructional services, 23% on management services and 11% on "other." For Covid-related grants, 71% were used for instructional services, 5% for management services and 10% for "other." Instructional services are performed by professionals who provide learning experiences for students, including teaching and paraprofessional activities. Management services are provided to assist management in a broad policy area or general operation of the school system. Charters devoted a greater proportion of pandemic relief for instructional services and a smaller portion for management services. This suggests that charter schools focused a sizable portion of their Covid relief on addressing learning losses and other achievement gaps that may have been caused by school closures and instructional interruptions during these pandemic years.

Further evidence to this effect shows up in how charter schools categorized the portion of spending that went to purchased instructional services. Charters designated a larger share of Covid relief (8%) for compensatory education than they did with regular education funds. This suggests that, in the face of major disruptions in the classroom, charter schools shifted some of their spending focus to addressing the learning gaps brought on by the pandemic.

Conclusion

This analysis addresses how Michigan school districts reported spending the \$2.5 billion in Covid aid they received from 2020 through 2022. It addresses the dearth of information regarding the use of federal relief funds by analyzing state- and district-level expenditure data.

Across all three years, a total of \$1.2 billion of Covid relief funded employee compensation. School districts did not primarily use this money to hire additional staff for student support. Rather, it appears they mostly used it to buttress the salaries and benefits of existing employees. Districts did spend more than normal on supplies and purchase services, both of which could have been used to deal with some of the effects of the pandemic on students.

Second only to labor costs, school districts spent the most Covid relief on purchased services and supplies. They used a greater proportion of Covid funding for these two categories than they normally devote to such expenditures. This suggests that the increased spending in these categories was an attempt to deal with issues arising from pandemic policies, such as school closures, forced quarantines, etc.

Charter schools appear to have spent their Covid relief funds somewhat differently, although there are limits to interpreting the data. Charters prioritized the use of Covid relief funds for additional instructional services, particularly compensatory activities. This suggests that charters focused some of these extra resources on mitigating the learning disruptions brought on by the pandemic.

The degree to which any of these efforts have helped students overcome learning loss and stabilize the classroom is difficult to quantify. Nevertheless, district and school leaders are still charged with

the responsibility of shepherding their staff and students through a time of great disruption. And, while dollars spent do not always translate to success, following the money trail is one of the first steps we can take to determine what districts did to help students and to quantify the impact of such efforts.

All school districts must be held accountable to ensure that they did, in fact, allocate at least 20% of their funds to address deficits in student learning. With only half the money spent and one school year left to spend the remainder, there is still time for districts to dispense the rightful amount of Covid aid in support of closing these gaps. More robust reporting mechanisms will be needed to assess this. Especially since a designated portion of relief funds were specifically allocated for administering these monies, expectations of stronger reporting should not be too much to hope for.

Appendix A: List of school Covid grants

Grant Code Description	Code
State Aid Equalization Payments (ESSER II Formula <\$450 per-pupil)	387
ESSER II Discretionary - Section 23b(2a) Summer School	431
ESSER II Discretionary - Section 23b(2b) Credit Recovery	432
ESSER II Discretionary - Section 23b(2c) Before/After/Before-and-After School	433
ESSER III Formula - American Rescue Plan Elementary and Secondary Schools	435
Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery Fund (new federal portion of GSRP)	439
ESSER III State Equalization Payments (Section 11t), federal funds	441
ESSER II Discretionary – Benchmark Assessments	443
Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Fund - Section 31z Infrastructure Grant	444
Child Development and Care Block Grant (CARES - Child Care Relief)	482
Coronavirus Relief Funds – MAISA Device Purchasing Program/Distance Learning Grant	483
Supplemental Elementary School Emergency Relief (ESSER II), see Grant Code 796	485
Child Development and Care Block Grant (CARES - Child Care Relief)	498
Governor's Emergency Education Relief (GEER) Fund	499
Education Stabilization Fund - Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief	796
Coronavirus Relief Fund – Child Care Relief Fund Grant	797
Coronavirus Relief Fund – District COVID-19 Costs (~\$12 per-pupil)	798
Coronavirus Relief Fund – Coronavirus Relief Funds (\$350 per-pupil)	799
Education Equity – Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER)	800

Category	2019-20	2020-21	2021-22	3-year sum	% of total
Salary	\$8,517,412,058.37	8,560,469,642.36	9,113,282,875.26	\$26,191,164,575.99	30%
Benefits	\$5,801,224,840.22	6,100,704,728.98	6,556,494,368.56	\$18,458,423,937.76	21%
Other expenditures	\$4,236,048,893.47	4,690,724,858.73	3,972,994,704.47	\$12,899,768,456.67	15%
Purchased services	\$3,094,673,550.98	3,138,481,721.81	3,575,342,377.60	\$9,808,497,650.39	11%
Transfers	\$2,149,008,674.39	2,410,937,513.44	2,468,631,468.12	\$7,028,577,655.95	8%
Capital outlay	\$1,801,207,862.32	2,187,387,371.84	2,473,367,465.79	\$6,461,962,699.95	7%
Supplies	\$1,117,125,788.02	1,332,969,481.96	1,499,452,656.06	\$3,949,547,926.04	5%
Repairs & maintenance	\$353,794,515.06	333,901,921.86	415,576,500.38	\$1,103,272,937.30	1%
Rentals	\$104,226,586.79	106,362,069.43	84,200,661.41	\$294,789,317.63	<1%
Internal use only	\$31,485,290.11	26,320,420.49	32,150,519.40	\$89,956,230.00	<1%
Taxes	\$15,054,734.00	15,909,551.33	17,806,702.12	\$48,770,987.45	<1%
Discounts on food service	\$208,283.50	120,340.10	2,481,356.18	\$2,809,979.78	<1%
Total expenditures	\$27,221,471,077.23	\$28,904,289,622.33	\$30,211,781,655.35	\$86,337,542,354.91	100%

Appendix B: Total school spending by category and year

▲18-19 to 19-20	▲ 19-20 to 20-21	▲20-21 to 21-22	Јор Туре
-2%	-39%	7%	School directors and assistants
-5%	29%	9%	District-level administration & support staff
-1%	29%	3%	Instructional coordinators
4%	11%	4%	District-level directors and assistants
9%	-7%	13%	Librarians, media specialists and related support staff
-1%	-7%	5%	Instructional aides, paraprofessionals
10%	6%	7%	Career-Technical teachers
5%	-4%	7%	Student support services
8%	-3%	8%	Special education teachers, consultants, aides and support staff
4%	-2%	3%	Other support services staff
2%	1%	4%	Guidance counselors
-1%	-1%	3%	Classroom teachers
4%	0%	6%	School-level administration and support staff

Appendix C: Public school staffing, 2018-2022

Endnotes

1 Ben DeGrow, "Adding Up the Extra COVID-19 Funding for MIchigan Public Schools" (Mackinac Center for Public Policy, April 20, 2021), 3, https://www.mackinac.org/S2021-01.

2 "Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund" (U.S. Department of Education, Sept. 13, 2021), https://perma.cc/DA8C-F7EX.

3 Ben DeGrow, "Adding Up the Extra COVID-19 Funding for MIchigan Public Schools" (Mackinac Center for Public Policy, April 20, 2021), 5, https://www.mackinac.org/S2021-01.

4 "Frequently Asked Questions: Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Programs Governor's Emergency Education Relief Programs" (U.S. Department of Education, Dec. 7, 2022), 10, https://perma.cc/E6S6-Z3BS.

5 "Frequently Asked Questions: Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Programs Governor's Emergency Education Relief Programs" (U.S. Department of Education, Dec. 7, 2022), 11, https://perma.cc/E6S6-Z3BS.

6 "Fact Sheet: American Rescue Plan Act of 2021: Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund (ARP ESSER)" (U.S. Department of Education), https://perma.cc/SH5A-SLDJ.

7 Kyle L. Guerrant, "Memorandum: Section 11t Equalization Application Availability" (MIchigan Department of Education, March 17, 2022), 3-5, https://perma.cc/G7JZ-687M.

8 Rhonda A. Kribs, "Covid Funding Update" (Grand Rapids Public Schools, Sept. 12, 2022), https://perma.cc/BG3T-RFHL; "ESSER III Spending Plan" (Kalamazoo Public Schools, Dec. 2, 2021), https://perma.cc/V6U7-KWQ9.

9 Kyle L. Guerrant, "Memorandum: Section 11t Equalization Application Availability" (MIchigan Department of Education, March 17, 2022), https://perma.cc/G7JZ-687M.

10 "American Rescue Plan 2021" (Michigan Department of Education, Feb. 25, 2022), https://perma.cc/W4XR-WLEW.

11 Tracie Mauriello, "How Michigan schools are spending \$6 billion in federal COVID relief" (Bridge Michigan, Aug. 16, 2021), https://perma.cc/KK8S-5DAT.

12 Katherine Silberstein and Marquerite Roza, "The Massive ESSER Experiment: Here's what we're learning." (Education Next, April 4, 2023), https://perma.cc/R7YM-TSWS.

13 Scott McClallen, "Some Michigan schools keep mum on COVID relief spending" (The Center Square, Sept. 19, 2022), https://perma.cc/HX7Z-QLRF.

14 "Student Enrollment Counts Report" (MI School Data), https://perma.cc/97AS-J4T7.

15 John Wisely, "Michigan schools to get \$6B in COVID-19 funding: Here's how much your district will get" (Detroit Free Press, March 31, 2021), https://perma.cc/J7V8-7GPZ.

16 "Additional Staffing Data Files" (Michigan Center for Educational Performance and Information), https://perma.cc/T2AZ-4UV5.

17 "Michigan's Charter Schools" (Michigan Association of Public School Academies, 2023), https://perma.cc/4XCM-WDTM.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Rodney M. Lockwood Jr. Board Chairman President Lockwood Construction Co., Inc.

Jim Barrett Board Vice Chairman Retired President and CEO Michigan Chamber of Commerce

Hon. Clifford W. Taylor Retired Chief Justice Michigan Supreme Court

Joseph G. Lehman President Mackinac Center for Public Policy

Daniel J. Graf Chief Investment Officer Amerisure Mutual Holdings, Inc.

Richard G. Haworth Chairman Emeritus Haworth, Inc.

J.C. Huizenga President Westwater Group

Edward C. Levy Jr. Executive Chairman for Edw. C. Levy Co.

Joseph P. Maguire President and CEO Wolverine Development Corp.

Richard D. McLellan Attorney McLellan Law Offices

Jennifer Panning President Artisan Tile, Inc.

BOARD OF SCHOLARS

Dr. Donald Alexander Western Michigan University

Dr. Brad Birzer Hillsdale College

Dr. Peter Boettke George Mason University

Dr. Theodore Bolema Innovators Network Foundation

Dr. Alex Cartwright Ferris State University

Dr. Michael Clark Hillsdale College

Matthew Coffey Central Michigan University

Dr. Dan Crane University of Michigan Law School

Shikha Dalmia Mercatus Center

Dr. Chris Douglas University of Michigan-Flint

Dr. Jefferson Edgens University of Wyoming

Dr. Ross Emmett Arizona State University

Dr. Sarah Estelle Hope College

Dr. Hugo Eyzaguirre Northern Michigan University

Dr. Tawni Ferrarini Lindenwood University

Dr. Burton Folsom Hillsdale College (ret.)

John Grether Kettering University

Dr. David Hebert Aquinas College

Dr. Michael Hicks Ball State University

Dr. Ormand Hook Mecosta-Osceola ISD

Prof. Harry Hutchison George Mason University School of Law

Dr. David Janda Institute for Preventative Sports Medicine

Annette Kirk Russell Kirk Center David Littmann Mackinac Center for Public Policy

Dr. Dale Matcheck Northwood University

Charles Meiser Lake Superior State University (ret.)

Dr. Glenn Moots Northwood University

Dr. George Nastas III Marketing Consultants

Dr. Todd Nesbit Ball State University

Dr. John Pafford Northwood University (ret.)

Dr. Mark Perry University of Michigan-Flint

Lawrence W. Reed Foundation for Economic Education

Gregory Rehmke Economic Thinking

Dr. Steve Safranek Wiss, Janney, Elstner Associates, Inc.

Dr. Howard Schwartz Oakland University

James Sheehan SunTrust Robinson Humphrey

Rev. Robert Sirico Acton Institute

Dr. Bradley Smith Capital University Law School

Dr. Daniel Smith Middle Tennessee State University

Dr. Chris Surprenant University of New Orleans

Dr. Jason Taylor Central Michigan University

Dr. John Taylor Wayne State University

Dr. Richard K. Vedder Ohio University

Prof. Harry Veryser Jr. University of Detroit Mercy

John Walter Jr. Dow Corning Corporation (ret.)

Dr. Gary Wolfram Hillsdale College



Cassidy Syftestad Klutts is a Doctoral Academy Fellow and Graduate Research Assistant in the Department of Education Reform at the University of Arkansas. She currently serves on the Board of Directors for Anthem Classical Academy in Fayetteville, Arkansas. Cassidy graduated with honors from Hillsdale College with a B.A. in American Studies. She completed multiple internships in education policy, journalism and programming, including a research position with the Center for Education Policy at the Heritage Foundation. After her undergraduate graduation, she managed the Washington Hillsdale Internship Program in D.C. and worked as an intelligence analyst for the Central California Intelligence Center. Her research covers school choice policy, board governance, classical and Christian education and school finance.



The Mackinac Center for Public Policy is dedicated to improving the understanding of economic and political principles among citizens, public officials, policymakers and opinion leaders. The Center has emerged as one of the largest and most prolific of the more than 50 state-based free-market "think tanks" in America. Additional information about the Mackinac Center and its publications can be found at www.mackinac.org.

Additional copies of this report are available for order from the Mackinac Center.

For more information, call 989-631-0900, or see our website, www.mackinac.org.

© 2023 Mackinac Center for Public Policy, Midland, Michigan ISBN: 978-1-942502-74-6 | S2023-11 | Mackinac.org/s2023-11 140 West Main Street P.O. Box 568 Midland, Michigan 48640 989-631-0900 Fax 989-631-0964 Mackinac.org mcpp@mackinac.org